IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Supreme Court No. S265668

Plaintiff and Respondent

Court of Appeal No. B298952

v.

Superior Court Nos. 2018037331; 2017025915

ISAIAH HENDRIX,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of the Ventura County Superior Court Honorable Paul W. Baelly, Commissioner

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Adrian Dresel-Velasquez State Bar # 272556 P.O. Box 3443 Santa Barbara, CA 93130 916-215-3519 chardrian@hotmail.com

Attorney for Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

In an order dated January 27, 2021 this Court limited the issues to be briefed and argued to the following: "Did the Court of Appeal err in holding an instructional error on the defense of mistake of fact harmless? In the circumstances of this case, which standard of prejudice applies to an error in instructing on the defense of mistake of fact: that of *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818 or that of *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18?"

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was convicted of residential burglary (1 CT 187) when he "jimmied" open a locked screen door in the backyard of

an Oxnard home. (4 RT 125-128.) When appellant was unable to enter the locked sliding glass door behind the screen door, he simply sat down on a chair in the backyard and waited until the police apprehended him about seven minutes later. (Exh. 1, 4 RT 140, 1 CT 269.) Appellant's defense was that he mistakenly thought he was at his cousin Trevor's house. Both the Court of Appeal and the People acknowledge that the trial court erred when it included the bracketed "reasonable" language in the mistake of fact instruction requiring appellant's mistaken belief that he was at his cousin's house to be both subjectively and objectively reasonable. Because burglary is a specific intent crime, appellant's defense required only an actual mistaken belief. The bracketed language requiring the belief to be reasonable should have been omitted because only general intent crimes require the mistaken belief to be "both actual and reasonable." (People v. Lawson (2013) 215 Cal. App. 4th 108, 115.) The dispute in this case is whether or not this instructional error was harmless.

The majority opinion in the Court of Appeal applied the *Watson* standard and found that although the trial court erred when it included the bracketed "reasonable" language in the mistake of fact instruction, the error was harmless because it was clear to them that appellant fabricated his account that he thought he was at his cousin's house. (*People v. Hendrix* (2020)

55 Cal.App.5th 1092, 1096-1098.) The dissent, applying the *Chapman* standard, found the error was not harmless after noting appellant's recent mental health history and his inexplicable action of simply waiting in the backyard of a home he had allegedly just tried to burglarize. (*Id.* at pp. 1100-1101 (dis. opn. of Tangeman, J.).)

Appellant agrees with the dissent and emphasizes that the deliberations in this case were so close that at one point the jury was hung. The court's error in such a close case is magnified and increases the likelihood that at least one juror relied on the instruction to incorrectly find that even though appellant actually believed he was at his cousin's home he was still guilty because this belief was objectively unreasonable. Under either the *Watson* or *Chapman* standard, appellant's burglary conviction must be reversed because there is a reasonable chance a juror made this legally invalid finding.

STATEMENTS OF THE CASE AND FACTS

<u>Case No. 2017025915 – The Robbery</u>

On July 22, 2017 appellant entered a Costco store without a membership, telling an employee that his mother was inside and he wanted to find her. (1 CT 211.) The employee then escorted appellant around the store. (1 CT 211.) Appellant grabbed a bottle of tequila and threatened the employee that he would "blast" her if she said anything or kept him from leaving

the store. (1 CT 211.) Appellant then left the store and was apprehended with the bottle of tequila. (1 CT 211.)

For this offense, appellant was charged with a strike, second degree robbery (Pen. Code, §§ 211, 212.5.) (1 Supp. CT 8-13.) The case was continued a number of times (1 Supp. CT 14-21) until October 17, 2017 when a doubt was declared regarding appellant's mental competency. (1 Supp. CT 22-23.) Appellant was evaluated by Dr. Wood who found him incompetent to stand trial based on symptoms of a severe mental illness. (2 Supp. CT 4-6.) Appellant was "nonresponsive at times, stared off for long periods of time, acknowledged hearing voices" and did not understand why he was "in jail, or what is happening during a court proceeding." (2 Supp. CT 6.) On November 9, 2017, the court, based on Dr. Wood's report, found appellant incompetent to stand trial and suspended proceedings (Pen. Code, § 1368). (1 Supp. CT 28-29; 1 Supp. 1 RT 4-5.) On December 8, 2017 appellant was committed to Atascadero State Hospital (1 Supp. CT 43) but he was not admitted until April 3, 2018. (2 Supp. CT 10.) On July 26, 2018 appellant was recommended to be returned to court because his competency had been restored. (2 Supp. CT 9-19.) On August 9, 2018 the court found appellant competent to

¹ The notation "Supp." stands for the supplemental transcripts which were filed on December 3, 2019 after appellant's motion to amend his appeal to include the robbery probation violation was granted.

stand trial and criminal proceedings were reinstated. (1 Supp. CT 52-53; 2 Supp. 1 RT 4.)

A little over two weeks after appellant's proceedings were reinstated, on August 27, 2018, appellant accepted a plea bargain and pled guilty to the felony robbery charge after the district attorney offered three years felony probation and 365 days in jail. (1 Supp. CT 56-75; 1 Supp. 3 RT 104-109.) On September 24, 2018 the court sentenced appellant pursuant to the plea bargain and placed him on formal felony probation for 36 months and ordered him to serve 365 days in the Ventura County Jail. Because of time served, he was released that day. (1 Supp. CT 76-80; 1 Supp. 4 RT 154-161.)

A little over one month later, on October 28, 2018 appellant was arrested for the underlying burglary in this case after he was seen attempting to open the rear sliding glass door of a residence. (1 Supp. CT 83.) On October 31, 2018 appellant's probation was revoked and his violation of probation charge was set to trail his new residential burglary case. (1 Supp. CT 81-82, 87.)

Case No. 2018037331 – The Residential Burglary

On October 28, 2018, appellant approached a home occupied by three residents – two parents and their adult son. (4 RT 122, Exh. 1.) The home was continuously monitored by five security cameras. (4 RT 124.) Around 7 a.m. the son woke up to appellant loudly knocking on the front door and ringing the

doorbell. (4 RT 125.) By the time the son made it downstairs to see who was at the front door, no one was there. (4 RT 126.) The son checked the security cameras and saw appellant go through the side gate of the house, try to open a locked side door, and then enter his backyard. (4 RT 125, 133-134, 138.) Appellant "jimmied" open a locked sliding screen door to the back of the house but was unable to open the locked sliding glass door behind it to enter the house. The residents called the police. (4 RT 126.) The police arrived just seven minutes later and found appellant simply sitting on a chair in the backyard. (4 RT 119, 140, 1 CT 269, Exh. 2.) Appellant appeared surprised when the officers arrived. (4 RT 120.) He did not attempt to flee or fight with the officers and was cooperative throughout their encounter. (4 RT 119, 176.) Appellant had no weapons or burglary tools on him – he only had a water bottle. (4 RT 176-177.)

Appellant told the police he thought he was at his cousin Trevor's house. (Exh. 2 [body camera video of Officer Aldrete], 1 CT 265 [transcript of Exh. 2], 4 RT 117 [Exh. 2 received into evidence].) Appellant stated that a friend had told him that

_

² Assuming appellant intended to commit theft upon entry, this slight crossing of the threshold of the exterior screen door elevated appellant's offense from an attempted burglary to a completed burglary because it equates to the entry of a structure. (1 CT 162; *People v. McEntire* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 484, 491-493.)

Trevor had moved and this was his new address. (Exh. 2, 1 CT 265.) But Officer Vines knew Trevor and knew that his house was two to three blocks away on the other side of Pacifica High School. (4 RT 167-169.) Further in recorded jail calls to his mother, appellant asked her to find a witness who would testify on appellant's behalf to say that he had given appellant the wrong address for Trevor's house. (Exh. 7 [jail calls to mom], 1 CT 298, 300 [transcripts of jail calls], 4 RT 175 [Exh. 7 received into evidence].) When appellant persisted, she refused, saying she was not willing to get anyone "caught up or doing any type of drama or lying." (Exh. 7, 1 CT 300.) Lastly, in a recorded jail call to his uncle, appellant never denied or refuted that he was "running around breaking in people's" homes and when his uncle asked him what he was doing, he simply replied, "I don't know." (Exh. 8 [jail call to uncle], 1 CT 302 [transcript of jail call], 4 RT 175 [Exh. 8 received into evidence].)

For this offense, appellant was charged with his second strike, first-degree residential burglary (Pen. Code, §§ 459, 460). (1 CT 8-10.) On November 8, 2018 a doubt was once again declared as to appellant's competency to proceed and his criminal proceedings were again suspended pursuant to Penal Code section 1368. (1 CT 19; 1 Supp. 5 RT 204.) He was evaluated by Dr. Emerick who diagnosed appellant with bipolar disorder, found him to be "inappropriately euthymic" and noted that a

court order to medicate him may be required because appellant was currently not taking his medication and "there is a strong likelihood of his decompensating if he is not medicated." (2 Supp. CT 22-23.) However, Dr. Emerick found appellant competent to stand trial (2 Supp. CT 23) because appellant "had learned his lessons thoroughly from the State Hospital curriculum" and "was able to pass all questions about the Court process with flying colors." (2 Supp. CT 21.) Based on Dr. Emerick's report, the court found him competent to stand trial and reinstated the criminal proceedings on December 6, 2018. (1 CT 22, 1 Supp. 6 RT 254.)

Appellant's jury trial was held from April 23 until April 26, 2019. (1 CT 99, 178.) When the jury began their deliberations, at 11:32 a.m., appellant admitted his prior robbery conviction. (1 CT 178-179, 5 RT 276-280.) Later that afternoon, at just past 3 p.m., the jury requested the transcript from the jail phone calls or a read back. (1 CT 174, 179, 5 RT 281.) The court replied "there was no court transcription of the phone calls. The transcript is not evidence." (1 CT 174.) About an hour later, just before 4 p.m., the jury informed the court that they could not come to a decision. (1 CT 175, 179, 5 RT 282.) Appellant requested a mistrial but the court instructed the jury to continue deliberating. (5 RT 282-284.) When the jury returned after the weekend, they continued their deliberations for about two hours

and then asked for a playback of one of the officer's testimony. (1 CT 192, 6 RT 304.) After the court reporter read back the testimony, the jury resumed deliberations and then later that afternoon found appellant guilty of the sole count of first-degree residential burglary and found true the allegation that someone was inside the residence during the commission of the offense. (1 CT 187, 193, 7 RT 314-316.) After discharging the jury, the court found appellant in violation of his probation. (7 RT 320-321.)

Prior to sentencing, appellant moved to strike his prior robbery conviction for sentencing purposes. (1 CT 201-222.) The court read the motion (8 RT 331) but impliedly rejected it when the court sentenced appellant to a total term of ten years in prison. (1 CT 224-228; 8 RT 342.) The ten-year term was composed of the low term for the burglary of two years which was doubled to four years because of appellant's prior strike (8 RT 340); the five-year prior serious felony enhancement (Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (a)(1)) (1 CT 227, 8 RT 340); and one further year, which was 1/3 of the midterm for the probation violation in the robbery case. (1 CT 227, 8 RT 341.)

ARGUMENT

- I. The *Chapman* Standard Applies to the Trial Court's Error in Instructing on the Mistake of Fact Defense.
 - A. The Trial Court Erred by Including the Bracketed Reasonable Mistake Language in the Mistake of Fact Instruction.

Appellant's counsel requested the jury be instructed with CALCRIM No. 3406, Mistake of Fact, under the theory that appellant mistakenly believed that his cousin Trevor lived at the house he attempted to enter. (5 RT 210-211.) The court agreed there was substantial evidence to include the instruction (5 RT 211) but acquiesced to the prosecutor's request that "all the 'reasonably' brackets get included" in the instruction. (5 RT 212.) The court erred by including the bracketed reasonable mistake language.

The court filled in the standard jury instruction on the mistake-of-fact defense, CALCRIM No. 3406, as follows:

"The defendant is not guilty of burglary if he did not have the intent or mental state required to commit the crime because he reasonably did not know a fact or reasonably and mistakenly believed a fact.

If the defendant's conduct would have been lawful under the facts as he reasonably believed them to be, he did not commit burglary. If you find that the defendant believed that that (sic) defendant's cousin Trevor resided at the home and if you find that belief was reasonable, the defendant did not have the specific intent or mental state required for burglary.

If you have a reasonable doubt about whether the defendant had the specific intent or mental state required for burglary, you must find him not guilty of that crime." (1 CT 165; CALCRIM No. 3406.)

There is no dispute that the trial court erred by including the bracketed reasonable mistake language in the mistake of fact instruction. (*People v. Hendrix*, *supra*, 55 Cal.App.5th 1092, 1096-1097.) "For general intent crimes, the defendant's mistaken belief must be both actual and reasonable, but if the mental state of the crime is a specific intent or knowledge, then the mistaken belief must only be actual." (*People v. Lawson*, *supra*, 215 Cal.App.4th 108, 115.) The bench notes to CALCRIM No. 3406 instruct: "If the defendant is charged with a general intent crime, the trial court must instruct with the bracketed language requiring that defendant's belief be both actual and reasonable. [¶] If the mental state element at issue is either specific criminal intent or knowledge, do not use the bracketed language requiring the belief to be reasonable."

Burglary is a specific intent crime. It requires the act of unlawful entry accompanied by the specific intent to commit theft or any felony. (Pen. Code, § 459; *People v. Wallace* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1032, 1077.) Due to this specific intent, for appellant to establish a mistake of fact defense, he needed only to show that he subjectively believed his cousin Trevor resided at the home — he did not need to show that this belief was also objectively reasonable. (*People v. Russell* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 1415, 1426-1427, disapproved of on another ground by *People v. Covarrubias* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 838, 874, fn. 14 [a trial court does not have a *sua sponte* duty to instruct on the mistake of fact defense because it serves only to negate an element of the crime.])

Appellant's mistaken belief that his cousin Trevor resided at the residence did not need to be objectively reasonable because the mistaken belief itself, regardless of its reasonableness, negates the requisite specific intent to commit theft – if appellant thought he was entering his cousin Trevor's house, he was not entering with the intent to steal. (*See id.* at pp. 1425-1427.) The jury's job regarding the mistake of fact defense was thus solely to determine whether or not appellant actually believed that his cousin Trevor resided at the home. They were not required to determine whether this belief was also reasonable. The trial court erred by including the bracketed reasonable mistake language. (*Ibid.*)

B. The Trial Court's Instructional Error Should be Reviewed Under the *Chapman* Standard.

While it is clear that the trial court erred by instructing the jury that appellant's mistaken belief must have been reasonable, the Court of Appeal disagreed regarding what standard of prejudice applies to this error. If the instructional error violated appellant's federal rights under the United States Constitution, then the *Chapman* "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" test should have been used. However, if the instructional error only implicated appellant's rights under California law, then the *Watson* "reasonable probability" test applies. (*People v. Breverman* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 184-185 (dis. opn. of Mosk, J.).) Here, the *Chapman* test applies because the instructional error relieved the prosecutor from proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt violating appellant's rights under both the Due Process Clause and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

The case of *People v. Watt* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1215, 1217-1219 is similar to the present case because in both cases the trial court instructed on the mistake of fact defense, but its instruction was incorrect because it required the mistaken belief to be reasonable. The court in *Watt* noted that it could not find one case that used the *Chapman* test when analyzing the failure to instruct on an affirmative defense or erring in the instruction given and gathered cases which all used the *Watson* test instead.

(*Id.* at pp. 1219-1220.) But the *Watt* court then found the instructional error was harmless under **both** the *Chapman* and *Watson* tests. (*Id.* at p. 1220.)

In this case, the majority opinion relied on Article VI, section 13 of the California Constitution and the cases People v. Zamani (2010) 183 Cal. App. 4th 854, 866 and People v. Russell, supra, 144 Cal.App.4th 1415, 1431 to find that the Watson "reasonable probability" test applies. (People v. Hendrix, supra, 55 Cal.App.5th 1092, 1097.) The recent case of *People v. Molano* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 620, 670 appears to support this conclusion. ["Error in failing to instruct on the mistake-of-fact defense is subject to the harmless error test set forth in *People v. Watson*."] But Zamani, Russell, and Molano all involved cases in which the trial court failed to instruct on the mistake-of-fact defense. Further in both Russell and Molano the defense never even requested the mistake of fact defense. (People v. Russell, supra, 144 Cal.App.4th 1415, 1431; People v. Molano, supra, 7 Cal.5th 620, 672.) Here, appellant not only requested the defense but used it as his sole theory of defense. The question here is thus not whether the trial court should have instructed the jury on the mistake of fact defense; the question is whether its error in how it instructed the jury impacted appellant's federal rights. The answer is the instructional error violated appellant's federal

rights to a fair and impartial trial and the *Chapman* test therefore applies.

The dissent was correct that *Chapman's* "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" test applies to this case because the error equated to a misinstruction on an element of the burglary offense. (People v. Hendrix, supra, 55 Cal.App.5th 1092, 1100 (dis. opn. of Tangeman, J.), citing *People v. Hudson* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1002, 1013.) Jury instructions that relieve "the prosecution of the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the charged offense" must be analyzed under Chapman because such instructions "violate the defendant's due process rights under the federal Constitution" and implicate a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights to an impartial jury trial. (People v. Flood (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 491, 503, citing Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 277-278.) "Such directions subvert the presumption of innocence accorded to accused persons and also invade the truth-finding task assigned solely to juries in criminal cases." (Carella v. California (1989) 491 U.S. 263, 265.)

"The mistake-of-fact defense operates to negate the requisite criminal intent or mens rea element of the crime."

³ The "Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." (*In re Winship* (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364.)

(*People v. Lawson*, *supra*, 215 Cal.App.4th 108, 111.) Appellant's mistake of fact defense was used to disprove that appellant had the specific intent to commit theft when he opened the screen door, which was required to convict him of burglary. (Pen. Code, §§ 26, par. 3, 459; 1 CT 162, 165.) If appellant was trying to enter his cousin Trevor's house, he was not intending to steal from the home.

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