#### No. S265668

#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

#### ISAIAH HENDRIX,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B298952 Ventura County Superior Court, Case Nos. 2017025915; 2018037331 The Honorable Paul W. Baelly, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE ERRONEOUS MISTAKE-OF-FACT INSTRUCTION IN THIS CASE IS SUBJECT TO THE WATSON STANDARD OF HARMLESS-ERROR REVIEW

Appellant claims that the erroneous mistake-of-fact instruction should be subject to the *Chapman*, and not the *Watson*, harmlessness standard because it was tantamount to misinstructing on an element of the offense. (OBM 14-21.) But while the instruction related to a particular element of burglary, it focused on the factual assessment of appellant's claimed mistake. It is therefore best understood as a pinpoint instruction, which does not implicate any federal constitutional issue and is therefore reviewed for harmlessness under *Watson*.

There is no dispute that the court separately and correctly instructed the jury on the elements of burglary and theft. The erroneous instruction informed the jurors, in essence, how to evaluate certain evidence that related to the specific intent-to-steal element, but it did not purport to alter or qualify the definition of burglary. The error was therefore one of state law alone.

#### A. The mistake-of-fact instruction was incorrect

The Court of Appeal below properly concluded that there was instructional error, since the jury was told that the mistake-of-fact defense required appellant's mistaken belief to be reasonable. (Opn. 3-5; see *People v. Watt* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1215, 1218; *People v. Lawsen* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 108, 114-115; *People v. Russell* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 1415, 1425-1426; *People v. Reyes* (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 975, 984, 984 fn. 6; *People v. Navarro* (1979) 99 Cal.App.3d Supp. 1, 11.) Indeed, the Bench Notes to CALCRIM 3406 specify: "If the defendant is charged with a general intent crime, the trial court must instruct with the bracketed language requiring that defendant's belief be both actual and reasonable. ... If the mental state element at issue is either specific criminal intent or knowledge, do not use the bracketed language requiring the belief to be reasonable."

The Court of Appeal in *Watt* explained the reason for this rule:

A mistake of fact must be in good faith. In determining if a mistake of fact has negated a specific mental state, the jury may consider reasonableness in deciding if the belief was in good faith—a highly unreasonable belief can support an inference of bad faith, so while objective reasonableness is not a requirement of the defense of mistake, subjective reasonableness can be a relevant consideration on the subject of good faith.

(Watt, supra, 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 1218, citations omitted; see also People v. Navarro, supra, 99 Cal.App.3d Supp. at p. 11 ["It is true that if the jury thought the defendant's belief to be unreasonable, it might infer that he did not in good faith hold such belief. If, however, it concluded that defendant in good faith believed that he had the right to take the beams, even though such belief was unreasonable as measured by the objective standard of a hypothetical reasonable man, defendant was entitled to an acquittal since the specific intent required to be proved as an element of the offense had not been established"].) In other words, in a case involving specific intent (or knowledge), the instructional language about the reasonableness of the defendant's mistake might improperly convey that the defendant must harbor an objectively reasonable mental state, even though subjective reasonableness remains relevant to the question of the asserted mistake's good faith.

Burglary requires a specific intent to commit a felony—in this case, theft. (See RT 229; 1CT 162 [CALCRIM 1700]; *People v. Hill* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 105, 11.) There were therefore two related but analytically distinct questions implicated by the mistake-of-fact theory in this case: whether appellant actually made a mistake in good faith, as to which the jury could consider reasonableness; and whether appellant in fact harbored an intent to steal, which was not subject to any reasonableness requirement. Insofar as the instruction might have conveyed to

the jury that appellant's claimed mental state had to be objectively reasonable, the instruction was erroneous.

B. The erroneous instruction did not implicate the federal Constitution and therefore did not require the *Chapman* harmlessness standard

Appellant correctly observes that, for purposes of harmless error review, the relevant question is whether the incorrect mistake-of-fact instruction implicated his federal constitutional rights. (OBM 18.) He claims that the erroneous instruction requires harmlessness review under *Chapman* because it violated his "federal constitutional rights to a fair and impartial trial." (OBM 18-19.) More specifically, he argues that the mistake of fact principle "was used to disprove that appellant had the specific intent to commit theft when he opened the screen door, which was required to convict him of burglary." (OBM 20.) He reasons that, because the prosecution was required to prove the intent element beyond a reasonable doubt, the erroneous instruction "implicates the identical constitutional concerns as an instructional error on an element of an offense," as it "relieved the prosecutor of proving a requisite element of the offense." (OBM 22-23.) As will be explained below, the mistake-of-fact instruction as given in this case did not implicate the federal constitution and is therefore reviewed for harmlessness under Watson.

# 1. Instructional error is generally a matter of state law and implicates the federal Constitution only in limited circumstances

The standard of harmlessness that applies to an instructional error depends on the nature of the error. If it is one of federal constitutional dimension, then, under *Chapman*, "the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (*People v. Aledamat* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 1, 9.) Otherwise, our state Constitution requires a reviewing court to assess a faulty instruction's effect on the verdict under the reasonable-probability test of *Watson*. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13; *People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 487-490; *People v. Breverman* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 176.)<sup>3</sup>

As a general proposition, instructional error is a matter of state law; only the violation of some federal constitutional protection will call for application of the *Chapman* standard. For example, an erroneous instruction will offend the federal Constitution if it "so infected the entire trial that the resulting conviction violates due process." (*Estelle v. McGuire* (1991) 502 U.S. 62, 71-72, quoting *Cupp v. Naughten* (1973) 414 U.S. 141, 147.) The failure to instruct on an element of a charged offense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the rare circumstance where an erroneous instruction defies assessment for harmlessness, it may require automatic reversal as "structural error." (See, e.g., *Sullivan v. Louisiana* (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 280 [faulty burden of proof instruction vitiated all jury findings with "consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate"]; see also *People v. Blackburn* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1113, 1132-1136.)

also implicates the federal constitution, since it violates the right to a jury trial. (Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 15-16; People v. Merrit (2017) 2 Cal.5th 819, 832; see also In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364 [federal due process guarantees the right to a jury determination beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the charged crime].) And similarly, misinstruction on an element of a charged offense that relieves the prosecution of its burden of proving each element to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt violates the federal Constitution. (Roy v. California (1996) 519 U.S. 2, 5; Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 479-480.)

But the possibility of a jury misapplying state law, at least in a noncapital case, does not give rise to federal constitutional error. (Gilmore v. Taylor (1993) 508 U.S. 333, 342; see also Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 638, fn. 14 [declining to decide whether the Due Process Clause requires a lesser-includedoffense instruction in a noncapital case]; Windham v. Merkle (9th Cir. 1998) 163 F.3d 1092, 1106 [no federal question presented by state court's failure to give lesser-included-offense instruction in non-capital case].) Even when an instruction is inadvisable, or plainly wrong, this does not, without more, implicate the federal Constitution. (See, e.g., People v. Lemcke (2021) 11 Cal.5th 644, 278 Cal.Rptr.3d 849, 868 [instruction on eyewitness certainty did not violate due process, even though it "has the potential to mislead jurors"].) Indeed, this Court has underscored that the category of instructional errors violating the federal Constitution is narrow. In holding that the failure to instruct on a lesser

included offense is a matter of state law alone, the Court stated: "In light of the United States Supreme Court's careful disclaimers, and its tendency to interpret related federal rules, both constitutional and nonconstitutional, in a narrow way, we decline to do what the high court has expressly not done—to hold that such an instructional rule is required in noncapital cases by the federal Constitution." (*Breverman*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 169.)

# 2. Harmlessness review of an erroneous affirmative defense instruction is not at issue in this case

A mistake-of-fact defense can be characterized in different ways depending on the context. In some situations, it amounts to an affirmative defense. (See, e.g., *People v. Brooks* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1, 73; In re Jennings (2004) 34 Cal.4th 254, 280.) Generally, an affirmative defense is "one which does not negate any element of the crime, but is a new matter which excuses or justifies conduct which would otherwise lead to criminal responsibility." (People v. Bolden (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 1591, 1601; see also *People v. Frye* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1148, 1158; People v. Spry (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1345, 1369.) It is a defendant's burden to produce evidence supporting an affirmative defense; typically, this is because "its existence is 'peculiarly' within his personal knowledge and proof of its nonexistence by the prosecution would be relatively difficult or inconvenient." (People v. Salas (2006) 37 Cal.4th 967, 981.) "For example, necessity is a defense which admits, for the sake of argument, the elements of the charged offense, but offers a justification to avoid

criminal culpability. As such, it is an affirmative defense which the defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence." (*Bolden, supra*, 7 Cal.App.4th at p. 1601.)

This Court addressed mistake of fact as an affirmative defense in *Jennings*. There, the defendant was charged, under Business and Professions Code section 25658, subdivision (c), with furnishing alcohol to a person under 21 who, after drinking, proximately caused serious injury in a car crash. (*Jennings*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at pp. 259-260.) Analyzing the statutory provision, this Court held that it "does not require a showing the offender had knowledge of the imbiber's age or other criminal intent." (*Id.* at pp. 260-276.) The Court further held, however, that the defendant was entitled to rely on an affirmative defense of mistake of fact, as to which he would bear the burden of proving that he mistakenly believed the person to whom he furnished the alcohol was over 21. (*Id.* at pp. 276-281.)

The *Brooks* decision is similar. There, the defendant strangled a woman and then drove her to a different location where he burned the car while she was inside it. (*Brooks*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at pp.16-23.) Forensic evidence showed that the victim died from smoke inhalation and thermal injuries. (*Id.* at p. 21.) The defendant was convicted of murder in the course of a kidnaping (Pen. Code, §§ 187, subd. (a), 190.2, subd. (a)(17)(B)). (*Id.* at p. 16.) On appeal, the defendant claimed that the trial court had an obligation to instruct the jury on mistake of fact, based on his belief that the victim was already dead when he drove off with her in the car. (*Id.* at pp. 71-72.) This Court

treated that theory as an affirmative defense for purposes of the court's sua sponte duty to instruct, reasoning that consent may serve as a defense to kidnapping and consent in turn requires a live victim. (*Id.* at pp. 73-74, discussing *People v. Mayberry* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 143, 154-155 [mistaken belief in consent may serve as a defense to rape].)<sup>4</sup>

Whether and to what extent an affirmative defense instruction is required as a matter of federal constitutional law, and, concomitantly, whether an error relating to an affirmative defense instruction is assessed for harmlessness under *Chapman*, is unsettled. (See *Salas*, *supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 984; see also *Gilmore*, *supra*, 508 U.S. at pp. 343-344.) But appellant does not argue that resolution of that question is required here. Instead, he acknowledges that the alleged mistake of fact in this case sought to negate an element of the charged burglary. (OBM 19.) Because appellant's defense did not involve an excuse or justification separate from the elements of the offense, on which he bore any burden, respondent agrees that this case does not call for the Court to resolve any question about harmlessness review of a faulty affirmative defense instruction.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court in *Brooks* nonetheless concluded that the trial court did not err in failing to instruct on mistake of fact because the record did not contain substantial evidence to support the instruction. (*Brooks*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 74-75.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Though acknowledging that the alleged mistake of fact here sought to disprove an element of burglary, appellant's opening brief also states that a defendant bears the burden of "providing" substantial evidence on the question, "which in one

# 3. The mistake-of-fact instruction here operated as a pinpoint instruction that does not implicate the federal harmlessness standard

Mistake of fact has been characterized more commonly not as an affirmative defense but as a defense that serves to disprove an element of the charged crime. Thus, in *Jennings*, the Court observed that, as a general matter, "a mistake of fact defense is not available unless the mistake disproves an element of the offense." (*Jennings*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 277.) The Court explained that Penal Code section 26 provides the foundation for the mistake-of-fact defense. That section states: "All persons are capable of committing crimes except ... Persons who committed the act or made the omission charged under an ignorance or

sense makes this an affirmative defense." (OBM 20, citing *People* v. Howard (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 1526, 1533, and Frye, supra, 7 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1158-1159.) In the context of an affirmative defense as described above—one which raises an excuse or justification separate from the elements of the offense—"the burden of proving an exonerating fact may be imposed on a defendant." (Salas, supra, 37 Cal.4th at pp. 981-982; see also Frye, supra, 7 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1158-1159 [addressing "excuse or justification"].) But as used in this case, the mistake-of-fact instruction only needed to be supported by substantial evidence in the record. (*People v. Nelson* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 513, 542.) However that substantial evidence requirement might be described, the sense in which the instruction did not constitute an affirmative defense—that it bore on an element of burglary—is the one that is relevant here. Taking appellant's argument as a whole, respondent does not understand appellant's brief to suggest that this case implicates the unresolved issue identified in Salas.

mistake of fact, which disproves any criminal element." (Pen. Code, § 26.)

For example, a person who fires a gun believing it to be unloaded is entitled to rely on a mistake-of-fact defense in a murder case because he or she would lack the criminal intent required for murder. (*Jennings*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 277, discussing *People v. Goodman* (1970) 8 Cal.App.3d 705, 709.) But the defense will not be available if the claimed mistake is irrelevant to the intent required for the offense. For example, a burglary defendant's claimed mistake about the residential or commercial nature of a building does not support a mistake-offact defense because the prosecution is not required to prove that the defendant knew what type of building it was. (*Jennings*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 277, discussing *People v. Parker* (1985) 175 Cal.App.3d 818, 821-823.)6

When this more common type of mistake of fact, pertaining to an element of the charged offense, is conveyed to the jury, the instruction is properly understood as a "pinpoint." (See *People v. Covarrubias* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 838, 873-874 [citing approvingly authority describing mistake of fact instruction as pinpoint].)

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